U.S. Foreign Policy towards Saudi Arabia

How the Islamic Revolution has changed U.S.-Saudi Arabian relations.



Adaja Klijnstra s1041168

BA Thesis, pre-master North American Studies, 2019-2020 Faculty of Arts, Radboud University Nijmegen

> Supervisor: Dr Peter van der Heiden Second reader: Dr Albertine Bloemendal

Klijnstra (s1041168) /1

Pre-Master North American Studies – Faculty of Arts

Teachers who will receive this document: Dr Peter van der Heiden, Dr Albertine Bloemendal

Title of document: U.S. Foreign Policy towards Saudi Arabia: How the Islamic Revolution

has changed U.S.-Saudi Arabian relations.

Name of course: BA Thesis

Date of submission: 2 July 2020

The work submitted here is the sole responsibility of the undersigned, who has neither committed plagiarism nor colluded in its production.

Signed



Name of student: Adaja Klijnstra

Student number: 1041168

Abstract

This thesis examines the political relationship between the United States and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, whose 'special friendship' has arguably been crucial in the shaping of the cultural and political landscape of the Middle East. We will look into how the increasingly strained relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia has continued to develop until the present day by arguing that this may be due to notions of global and regional exceptionality on the parts of Washington and Riyadh respectively. This thesis serves as a guide that examines how U.S.-Saudi political relations changed after the Islamic revolution in Iran by comparing the state of U.S.-Saudi relations before and after 1979. Ultimately, this comparison will lead to a conclusion that explains to what extent the relationship between the two states has been altered. Such a comparison may also provide explanations for the underlying reasons for the continuance of the lasting relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia despite it being such a strained relationship, mainly due to the Arab-Israeli conflict and shifting national interests as a result of changes in rulers.

Keywords: the United States of America, Saudi Arabia, Iran, the Middle East, American foreign policy, the Islamic revolution, American exceptionalism, Arab nationalism, hegemony

11.223 words

Acknowledgements

When I began working on my bachelor thesis back in February, I could not have imagined that living under an 'intelligent lock down' would be the kind of situation the Netherlands would be in during my process of researching the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia. Therefore, first I would like to acknowledge all the individuals who have fallen victim to covid-19 in the past few months and give thanks to those people working in the medical branch, from doctors to cleaners, who have endured this pandemic more intensively than I have.

On a more personal level, I would like to thank my family, boyfriend, my friends and my colleagues at Makro for providing me with some much needed distraction (which is vital when writing something as big and time-consuming as this) whenever they felt that I got 'too consumed' with the writing process. In particular, I would like to dedicate this part to my dear grandfather who passed away on June 12th of this year who I will greatly miss and remember fondly.

Last but not least, I want to thank my supervisor, Dr Peter van der Heiden, for offering me his much appreciated feedback, guidance and expertise, as well as my second assessor, Dr Albertine Bloemendal, and Dr Lazlo Munteán who led the bachelor thesis program this semester. I hope you will enjoy reading this thesis, as I have certainly enjoyed working on it.

Adaja Klijnstra Nijmegen, 30 June 2020

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Introduction	5
Background	5
Method	7
Chapter 1: The beginnings of a special friendship between two exceptionalist states	9
The 'special' U.SSaudi relationship	9
The origins of Saudi Arabia	9
1945: the beginnings of a special friendship	10
American exceptionalism	11
Saudi exceptionalism and mutual Arabism	12
The Islamic revolution in Iran	13
Mutual understanding through exceptionalism	14
Chapter 2: The U.SSaudi relationship during and after the Islamic revolution	15
Carter in the Middle East	15
A time of compromises	16
The decline of U.SIran relations	16
Domestic changes in Saudi Arabia	17
The Iran-Contra affair	18
The Palestine question and the Soviet threat	18
A new age under Clinton	19
Fears of terrorism	20
A continuation of containment policies	20
Chapter 3: U.S-Saudi relations under Trump and the future of the special friendship	22
Bush: 9/11 and the war on terror	22
The war on terror	23
Barack Obama and King Abdallah	23
Nuclear arms in Iran and the capture of bin Laden	24
Back to a Republican view: Trump on the Middle East	25
Trump on Iran	25
The future of the U.SSaudi relationship and its effects on the Middle East	26
Returning to pre-1979 policies	28
Conclusion	29
Bibliography	32
Works cited	
Clips	35
Other	
Cover	35

Introduction

In 1979 Iran served as the stage for a revolution that would permanently alter the major power dynamics in the Middle East. The Islamic, or Iranian, revolution would come to represent the ultimate rejection of 'westernization' in the forms of Americanization and western materialis. (Elwell-Sutton 391). Religion, mainly Shia Islam, became the most powerful and influential factor in Iranian society and this was extended to politics as well, as Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini had declared: "Islam is political or nothing else" (Hamid and Grewal). As a result of the revolution in Iran, Islam (Shia, Sunni or other) became an increasingly important societal factor in other parts of the Middle East as well for decades afterwards. Yet, regardless of its impact on the region the revolution has also sparked a tremendous amount of debate. In later years, questions have been raised about why a nation, such as Iran, that was seemingly on its way to democracy would suddenly stray from that path (Elwell-Sutton 391). In addition, not only has the Iranian Revolution affected Iran but it also influenced the systems of other states in the Middle Eastern region, and as a result it has affected their own relationship with the United States. In Iran, as well as in the Middle East as a whole, the Islamic Revolution and the values that accompanied its cause created a significant decrease in American influence in the Middle East while, ironically, at the same time strengthening U.S.-Middle Eastern ties (Buchan 418).

At the time of the Iranian Revolution, one of the most crucial allies to the United States was the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. In the present, the United States and Saudi Arabia are still 'friends' but it can be argued that their relationship is one full of tensions and silent disagreements over their respective roles in the Middle East. Given that the current Islamic Republic of Iran is also still a significant player and has complicated relationships with both the United States and Saudi Arabia, it is useful to look at the nature of their relations before and after the Iranian Revolution, and how it may have affected the present foreign policies in the Middle East under the Trump administration.

Background

The relationship between the United States and the Middle East seems to have become central to how America has been shaping its modern foreign policies, especially since the attacks in New York City on September 11, 2001. Much of the political turmoil in the Middle East has been, in some ways, tied to American interventions that are a result of American suspicions of radical Islamic terrorism. Interventions such as those that the United States carried out in Iraq, Afghanistan, Israel and Palestine, have been heavily criticized by major players in the current

international sphere of influence, and so has the American relationship with Saudi Arabia itself been continuously criticized due to its ambiguous nature.

Nevertheless, despite the large amounts of critique targeted against American policies in the Middle East as well as its lasting political bond with Riyadh, the current Trump administration continues to foster relations with the Saudis regardless of their increasing unpopularity among the American public. The unpopularity of the Saudis is largely due to the frequent charges of human rights violations both within the Saudi borders and outside of them by non-profit organizations such as Amnesty International, and is a result of 9/11 and other Saudi involvements in global terrorism, be it funding or harboring terrorist groups or perpetrating the act itself (Benjamin 128). Some examples of the kinds of human rights violations that Saudi Arabia has been charged with are the current Saudi Arabian interventions in their neighboring country of Yemen, which Bruce Riedel has called "the worst humanitarian disaster in the world today", as well as their involvement in the murder of Saudi journalist Jamal Khashoggi. In addition, the Saudi involvement in the 9/11 terrorist attacks, as well as their alleged active funding of terrorist organizations in the broader Middle Eastern region has made them an ambiguous and dubious partner for the United States, but one that Washington is continuing to be on friendly terms with because of shared interests in the oil trade and the control and division of regional power (Miller and Nowrouzzadeh).

American foreign relations with Saudi Arabia have existed for a very long time. In 1932, King Saud permitted American oil companies to drill for oil on Saudi Arabian soil (Benjamin 122). It is clear that the aim of U.S.-Saudi relations have always been primarily rooted in the continuance of the oil business but that for the United States relations in Saudi Arabia may also establish some American influence in those countries that Saudi Arabia itself is an important ally to (Al-Rasheed 153). In return, the Saudis may have benefitted from American relations in the sense that they have been granted more power in the Middle East. However, they also tend to be used by the Americans as a stabilizing state in the Middle East, whose government is able to contrast the increase of Islamic radicalism in other Middle Eastern nations (Conge and Okruhlik 367). In addition to power interests and material supplies, the United States has also supported the Saudis in their interventions in other nations by supplying them with arms that have thereafter enabled the Saudis to increase the severity of the war in Yemen (Shavit and Heistein). Such American support of arms has also inspired a lot of critical debate.

It can be argued that the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia appears to be of great importance for the state of the Middle East. Therefore, the focus of this

thesis will be specifically on the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia. I will examine the changes in their political relationship by measuring the differences and similarities between various presidencies and their policies toward Riyadh before and after the influence that the Iranian revolution of 1979 had on the Middle East.

Iran has been another great power to both the Americans and the Saudis, but both states have different reasons for their enmity with the Iranians. The radical shift from a relatively westernized monarchy to a radicalized Islamic republic has caused tremendous changes to their own relationship with the Middle Eastern region as well as the international sphere, and continues to do so until the present day.

As such, the main research question of this thesis is how the Islamic revolution of 1979 has changed and affected the political relationship between the United States and the kingdom of Saudi Arabia up until the current Trump administration.

Method

The ideological struggles and cultural tensions that keep arising between the United States and their political allies in the Middle East call for a historical approach in which I will outline the differences between the U.S.-Saudi relationship before and after the Islamic revolution by zooming into specific administrations, as well as describe how changes to the Iranian political structure in the immediate aftermath of the revolution were perceived by the Washington and Riyadh at the time.

The main research question of this thesis will be answered through a comparative approach to historical research. Essentially, the focus of this thesis is to make a comparison between two periods and how the changes in the period after the Islamic revolution have influenced American foreign policy in the Middle East up until to the present day. In order to be able to draw the conclusion that significant changes have, in fact, taken place, I believe it is critical to return to the origins of U.S.-Saudi relations to explain the complexity and importance of their political alliance in the broader international sphere.

Due to the cultural differences between the United States and Saudi Arabia, as well as the Middle East as a whole, it is also important to describe parts of the social contexts of their Middle Eastern allies. These social contexts may explain some of the differences and similarities between the United States, Saudi Arabia and Iran. Improving our cultural understanding of the Middle Eastern region is beneficial to any political alliance there, especially since it is a region that has often been a hot spot for political and cultural conflicts between indigenous populations and the many religious ideologies the region harbors. I

believe that the way to better diplomatic relations is through a better understanding of the cultural contexts of others. As the Middle East is still an important player in international affairs, and Saudi Arabia and Iran in particular, this thesis might also shed a new light on how to handle certain aspects of diplomacy with these nations, especially since the current Trump administration has breathed renewed life into traditional ideals of American foreign policy in the Middle East.

This thesis will be structured as follows: I will discuss the issues mentioned above throughout three chapters that each focus on a set of sub questions and subjects that accompany the main research question.

Chapter one will discuss the origins of the political relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia. This means the relationship between the two countries before the Islamic revolution of 1979. In this chapter we will also examine how the special friendship between the United States and Saudi Arabia may have been the result of mutual notions of exceptionalism. For the Americans, this implies an exceptionalist role as savior of less fortunate nations in the world, and for the Saudis it means a similar role for themselves in the Middle East.

Chapter two offers insight into the U.S.-Saudi relationship immediately after the Islamic revolution. We will also explore the implications that the revolution had for U.S.-Saudi relations in its immediate aftermath. This will be thoroughly examined through the Carter administration as this is closest to the event. Here, I will also discuss the long-term implications the revolution had for American foreign policy in the Middle East, with a focus on their relationship with the Saudis, as well as show how future presidents have dealt with the results of long-time Republican policies in the Middle East under Reagan and Bush senior. How this has affected later policies will be examined through the Clinton administration.

Finally, in chapter three I will examine the state of U.S.-Saudi relations under the Trump administration today and how his policies have affected their political relationship. In this part I will also take into consideration the implications that 9/11 has had on American foreign policy, focusing on the Saudi Arabia and the current role of Iran in the Middle East. Ultimately, what is most important is to consider what this means for the future of diplomatic U.S.-Saudi relations, particularly the effects their special friendship might have on the broader Middle Eastern region and America at home.

Chapter 1: The beginnings of a special friendship between two exceptionalist states

First and foremost, before we can assume that the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia is indeed special, it is necessary to explain the origins of the U.S.-Saudi political relationship. In addition to the aforementioned, this chapter will also provide a short overview of the historical origins of Saudi Arabia as a nation, as well as explain the notion of 'exceptionalism' as seen through an American viewpoint and a Saudi (or Arab) one and how this could explain the relationship between Washington and Riyadh.

The 'special' U.S.-Saudi relationship

In their publication The Power of Narrative: Saudi Arabia, the United States and the Search for Security Patrick Conge and Gwenn Okruhlik hold that the United States and Saudi Arabia have a special relationship that has been continuously built around shared notions of exceptionality and that is rooted in goals of regional security, but also harbors a lack of transparency and dishonesty (359). Conge and Okruhlik also argue that it should be noted that the way in which these two states have crafted their relationship throughout the decades has often been built on false narratives that attempt to make the true underlying reasons for the U.S.-Saudi bond more reasonable to the American public (359). One could say that for the United States, gaining access to oil in the Middle East and serving as an important westernizing aspect is important, while to the Saudis it is crucial to remain the most influential state in the Middle East and therefore exert more influence on the (Arab) nations surrounding them (362). Yet, while both the United States and Saudi Arabia may have had very different reasons to continue fostering their friendship, the apparent mismatch between their ideologies has never prevented American presidents, both Democrat and Republican, from "heralding their friendship" (Benjamin 121) with the Saudis, a friendship that is deeply embedded in personal and financial ties to the royal Saudi family.

In order to explain why the U.S.-Saudi relationship is this strong and has managed to last for such a long period of time, we should return to the very origins of both Saudi Arabia as a state as well as the first encounter between the United States and the Saudis.

The origins of Saudi Arabia

Human occupation of the Arabian Peninsula dates back to at least 3.000 B.C. and has been shaped by indigenous elements and neighboring tribes, but also by outsiders such as the Romans and the Assyrians (Bowen 15-16). Saudi Arabia is considered to be the birthplace of

Islam, as around 400 A.D. Mecca was founded and the Prophet Muhammad was born there in the year 570. These events have transformed the Arabian Peninsula into becoming the pinnacle of Islamic spirituality (16).

For centuries after the founding of Islam, Arab culture and language, as well as the new Islamic faith, remained a significant colonizing influence in the Middle East and North Africa due to the many colonial ventures by Arab conquerors in those regions. For centuries, the Arabian Peninsula has been ruled by a variety of leaders and families and the current Saudi dynasty was only established in 1744. Saudi rule across the Arabian Peninsula was officially established in 1906, when the deaths of the opposing rulers of the Rashidi family ended decades lasting local threats to Saudi authority (Bowen 18).

In the following decades, most of the Arabian Peninsula became occupied by Saudi rule, and the Arabian Peninsula with its large number of tribes and different caliphates became the Saudi Arabia as we know it today (17-18). In 1927, the United Kingdom was the first western state to recognize Saudi Arabia as an actual state but further official recognition only arrived when the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia was officially founded in 1932 (2014: 18). America came onto the scene much later, as beginnings of the special friendship between the United States and Saudi Arabia only began in 1945 (18).

1945: the beginnings of a special friendship

Oil plays a major role in the continuation of the U.S.-Saudi relationship, and has done so since the beginning of their alliance. Saudi oil became increasingly important to keep the American economy running during World War II. Despite the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia's neutrality status during the war, the Saudis allowed the Americans to use their airspace (Benjamin 122) After the war had ended, President Franklin D. Roosevelt and King Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman al Saud cemented their new friendship during a secret meeting that offered the United States significant oil benefits and promised regional security to the Saudis (Riedel 1). It was held on the Egyptian Suez Canal aboard a U.S. destroyer and would heavily shape the future course of the Middle East (Benjamin 122-123). However, this event seemed to place American national interests, as Roosevelt was predominantly occupied with Saudi oil to improve the American economy, above the global interests that dominated the political sphere at the time, as he viewed America as more important than any other nations while at the same time believing in its exceptionalist mission to spread freedom and democracy in the world (Riedel 2-4).

American exceptionalism

American exceptionalism combines three related ideas, the first being that the United States and its history are unique and different from that of other nations in the world. After the American Revolution between 1765 and 178, a specifically American ideology that included the issues of liberty, equality (before the law), republicanism and having a representative democracy, arose as a second idea. This ideology has arguably led to the third notion that the United States has a unique mission to fulfil in the world as a result of their unique culture and history, and that this mission therefore allows them to sometimes act as superiors over other countries which they believe is their inherent right.

The American notion of this self-perceived exceptionalism goes all the way back to A Model of Christian Charity in which John Winthrop allegedly addressed a group of colonists who were heading towards the New World aboard the ship the 'Arbella'. While Winthrop specifically geared his message towards the founders of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, his famous words "we shall be as a city upon a hill", which implies similarities between the American cause and the survival of the sacred city of Jerusalem throughout history, has resonated with many Americans and provided them with a sense of self-determination that has set America apart from other nations and proposed its ideal place in the world. The image of America as 'a city upon a hill' has also undergirded the presidential rhetoric for centuries, from George Washington's Farewell Address to Barack Obama's inaugural speech in 2014 (Pease). Yet, the United States was not considered to truly be this exceptional until French political scientist Alexis de Tocqueville described it as such, saying that "the position of the Americans is therefore quite exceptional, and it may be believed that no other democratic people will ever be placed in a similar one" (de Tocqueville). The phrase itself, American exceptionalism, was not used much before the 1980s as it was first coined in this manner by Joseph Stalin who used the term to put the United States in a negative light and to actually undermine American liberal notions of democracy (McCoy). Nevertheless, the term gained popularity in a renewed Republican political climate under Ronald Reagan in the 1980s to describe America's uniqueness, both culturally and politically. The notion of American exceptionalism has shaped the majority of U.S. policies, both foreign and domestic, ever since and it is exactly this notion of American exceptionalism that could be one of the most important factors for the durability of U.S. -Saudi relations, as it has been suggested that the Saudi perception of having an important and exceptionalist role in the Middle East and America's belief that they have a mission to spread and protect freedom and democracy in the

world has been crucial to their relationship with the United States and that it may be the reason why their friendship has lasted for such a long time (Conge and Okruhlik 359).

Saudi exceptionalism and mutual Arabism

While the argument that Saudi Arabia also has an exceptionalist role to play in the Middle East is not comparable with the notion of American exceptionalism in every aspect, it may explain the tensions between the Saudi Arabian state, especially after its founding, and other Middle Eastern nations.

Providing a definition of Saudi exceptionalism is sometimes difficult. One could argue that there is no Saudi exceptionalism, but that there only exists a notion of Arab exceptionalism and exceptionalism within the Saudi royal family (Binder 33). If there is Saudi exceptionalism, it is inherently tied to the self-perceived uniqueness of the Saudi royal family who view themselves as saviors and defenders of the Middle East. What can be argued, however, is that the Saudi family uses ideas of Arab nationalism to spread their own influence in the Middle East. In his book *The Rise and Fall of Arab Presidents for Life*, Roger Owen argues about the debate surrounding the existence of Arab exceptionalism and how it links Arab (majority) nations to the United States. He suggests the following:

"There is indeed a case to be made for a type of Arab exceptionalism between 1970 and 2010, and, further, that this is best explained by what I call an "Arab demonstration effect" stemming from developments in the especially close ties that have united the Arab world since at least the end of World War II" (153).

Owen calls the post-WWII bond between Arab states one of "mutual Arabism" and it can be argued that this perspective is underscored by at least two major factors. One being the support for a Palestinian state, and two being the role Saudi Arabia plays in shaping what Owen calls "its own concept of an Arab political order" (154). This may be explained by a difference in worldviews and a romanticized view of one's own ethnicity and culture.

In *Contending with Middle East Exceptionalism* Peter Gran sheds light on the different attitudes that describe 'positivist' and 'romanticist' ideologies. 'Positivists' view progress as something that is not linked to the past and that inspires a communal global society of different, but also similar, nations, while 'romanticists' link modernity to showing respect for one's genetic ancestry as well as possessing a clear distinctive cultural and social character from other nations (Gran 7). Gran further suggests that romanticism could therefore be tied to

Arab exceptionalism because of its inherently religious aspects and focus on ethnic unity which also likens it to American exceptionalism because of its belief that they are distinctive from other nations.

Arab exceptionalism can also be compared to Islamic exceptionalism. However, Owen says that they are not interchangeable (154). Arab exceptionalism is different from Islamic exceptionalism in the sense that Islamic exceptionalism cannot, nor should, be defined by its ethnic or religious demography, but it is still common to relate to two to having a common cause: to unite the geopolitical region of the Middle East. Yet, being an Arab does not always equate being a Muslim which makes it difficult to claim that Arab exceptionalism is inherently the same as Saudi exceptionalism.

Nevertheless, it could be argued that Saudi Arabia views itself as the perfect example because of their historical link to Islam and has, in fact, made this connection themselves. In the present, it is still unclear whether Arab exceptionalism truly exists but it can be suggested that there is at least a sliver of Saudi exceptionalism with regards to the royal family at play in the Middle East.

The Islamic revolution in Iran

Referring back to Owen, it is noteworthy to mention that he draws specific attention to the period between 1970 and 2010, as this is also the period in which various institutions that promoted Islamic fundamentalist thinking were officially established in the Middle East. For example, the Iranian revolution of 1979 (or Islamic Revolution) that replaced the 'westernized' Shah, Mohammad Reza Pahlavi, with the much more strict and religious Khomeini. The Iranian revolution had caused a tremendous shift in the cultural, religious and political landscape of Iran, and had as well affected their relationships with other nations.

U.S.-Iranian diplomatic relations had already been established in 1856, but formal contact between the states was minimal until the Second World War broke out when the United States sent soldiers to Iran in order to secure the border with the Soviet Union under the Perimeter Defense strategy (Gasiorowski 146-147). After the war, the main reason for the United States to stay involved with one another was to prevent a potential Soviet occupation in Iran. The geographic location of Iran, as well as its oil reserves, made that they could become a very important potential ally to the United States. However, fears of communism and a wish to secure American and Saudi influences in the Middle East were the primary causes that led to the coup of 1953, in which the democratically elected Mohammad

Mossadeq was replaced with a western-oriented Shah, which significantly decreased American popularity in Iran (148).

After the coup, U.S.-Iranian relations remained stable for at least two more decades but on January 16, 1979 the Shah, Mohammad Reza Pahlavi and his wife, fled Iran amidst heavy protesting against their overtly 'western' and 'immoral' rule. The previously exiled Ayatollah Khomeini would soon become the leader of a new Iran that was to be built on Islamic principles and that rejected western influences (Kamrava 141). This event, the Islamic, or Iranian revolution, has changed the Middle East profoundly, including Iran's relationship with Saudi Arabia, the United States, and therefore also the relationship between those two nations for decades to come. By rejecting the west as a significant influencer, the U.S.-Iranian relationship became increasingly strained which also affected other relations in the Middle East, such as the U.S.-Saudi friendship.

Mutual understanding through exceptionalism

So far, we have established that American exceptionalism is arguably at the roots of the relationship with Saudi Arabia. Oil is the most important factor, as well as the provision of security for the Saudis in the Middle East, who feel threatened by unrest within the other great power: Iran. It can also be suggested that while there is probably no true Saudi exceptionalism, something similar could exist in relation to exceptionalism from the Saudi royal family and their use of Arab nationalism to further their goals of containing nations (such as Iran) that they view as threats to their hegemony. Therefore, the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia is special in the sense that they both entertain different ideas of exceptionalism that provide them with a somewhat mutual understanding of one another.

Chapter 2: The U.S.-Saudi relationship during and after the Islamic revolution

In this chapter we will look into the U.S.-Saudi relationship after the Iranian revolution of 1979. An assessment will be made of the implications that the revolution in Iran had on American foreign policy under Carter in the Middle East. We will be focusing on American relations with Saudi Arabia during these years. Near the end, we continue further into the future and examine how a Democratic view, as opposed to little more than a decade of Republican leadership under Reagan and Bush, of the U.S.-Saudi relationship was shaped by the Clinton administration.

Carter in the Middle East

President Jimmy Carter had travelled to Saudi Arabia a year prior to the Islamic revolution in Iran. The main goal of his visit to Saudi king Khalid was to promote and conduct peace talks in the Middle East. For the Saudis, the most prominent reason to engage in talks with Washington was the call for a Palestinian state in which King Khalid believed the United States could play a significant role, arguing that "the U.S. is the key to a solution of the Arab Israeli problem because of its influence over Israel" (Riedel 58). A newspaper article from 1978 mentions the Saudi wish for Palestinian sovereignty and Carter's unwillingness to provide such a settlement, saying that he preferred "a Palestinian entity linked to Jordan" instead (Pace). Yet, while they differed on the issues surrounding Palestine, Washington and Riyadh found common ground in their dismay about Soviet influences in or near the Middle East.

Eric Pace mentions that "Saudi Arabia has been providing aid to Somalia and has looked with dismay upon an increase of Soviet influence in Ethiopia." The main reason for their fear would have been that Soviet occupation near the Persian Gulf region would have threatened the status quo of Saudi Arabia, and thereafter may have affected the influence of the United States in the Middle East (Yergin). Fears of outside forces attacking the Persian Gulf were further strengthened by the fall of the Pahlavi regime in Iran and the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan that both occurred in 1979. Mohammed Turki-Al-Sudairi argues that exactly those aforementioned events led to stronger ties between the United States and Saudi Arabia at the end of the 1970s and that continued throughout the 1980s. He calls these, the continuance of the oil trade, and the protection of the Persian Gulf, the "basic formula underlying the U.S-Saudi relationship" (Al-Sudairi 71).

A time of compromises

Despite their common ground with regards to communism, many concessions for the Saudis were made in the final years of the 1970s. Such compromises eventually led to the impression that there had been a shift in power between Washington and Riyadh which angered officials in Washington. Daniel Pipes suggests that the shifting of powers in the Middle East has been a long-standing issue in American foreign policy towards the Middle East in general, of which the Islamic revolution in Iran was one of the most important, and worrisome, shifts. Pipes also argues that Washington's apparent tolerance of human rights breaches against, for example, women and Christian and Jewish minorities in the Middle East is the most heavily debated compromise that Washington was willing to make in order to continue their friendship with the Saudi royal family (Pipes 67). As President Carter was not particularly intent on changing the existing relationship with Riyadh, he allowed the enforcement of concessions (such as not being allowed to celebrate Thanksgiving) to be imposed on American officials visiting the Kingdom in order to 'keep the peace'. The fact that they were willing to turn a blind eye to human rights abuses and the allegedly unfair treatment of American officials, illustrates how important the relationship with Riyadh was to Washington, and therefore how important the oil trade and security matters were to the United States.

Bledar Prifti calls Carter's approach to foreign policy "a reinstatement of the Eisenhower doctrine" (Prifti 75), which instigates that Carter mainly focused on American oil interests and the containment of Arab nationalism, as well as the prevention of Soviet expansions in the Middle East. Despite Carter's liberal views towards foreign policy and his willingness to focus on the improvement of human lives, the Carter administration was ultimately characterized by a continuation of previous policies of communist containment in the Middle East rather than going into a new direction that would possibly have benefited both nations and significantly improved the Saudi's public image (22). However, regardless of these shortcomings, while Roosevelt and Truman began American support for Saudi Arabia, Carter actually reinforced its status as being one of the most important alliances to the United States.

The decline of U.S.-Iran relations

As the Islamic revolution in Iran was progressing, President Carter saw one of America's most important allies in the Middle East collapse. Previously, Iran had served as a stabilizing nation to prevent a Soviet occupation near the Persian Gulf, but from 1977 throughout 1979 the country saw a rise in religious activity that opposed the Iranian Shah's secular politics and that continued to drift away from western influences,.

While internal shifts in modes of thinking were reliably at the roots of the causes of the revolution, the Shah Pahlavi also distrusted President Carter who he viewed as an unknown and unpredictable force, unlike Ford, Nixon and Kissinger who Pahlavi had been on friendly and less formal terms with (Bill 227). Pahlavi's distrust of Carter arguably further increased the decline of U.S.-Iran relations. As was mentioned in chapter one, Pahlavi fled Iran as a result of the revolution and was replaced by an Ayatollah, which is a title of honor given to high-ranking Shia clergy in Iran (Algar). This religious leader was Ruhollah Khomeini. He despised both the United States and the Soviet Union, calling the first the "Great Satan" and the latter the "Lesser Satan" and often angered officials and representatives in both of these countries (Katz). This put Iran in a new position in the bipolar system and the United States increasingly faced difficulties in the upholding of their relationship with Iran, particularly during and after the Iranian Hostage Crisis from 1979 to 1981 which Khomeini fiercely supported (Time) and when Iranian pilgrims started to demonstrate violently at the sacred *Hajj* in Mecca in 1987, which damaged both Iran's relationships with the United States and Saudi Arabia. As a result the relationship between Iran and the United States worsened and American and, arguably, Saudi goals of containing Iranian hegemony became more important.

Domestic changes in Saudi Arabia

Meanwhile in Saudi Arabia, while Iran was undergoing revolutionary changes and an altered relationship with the world, Saudi King Khalid stood at the forefront of immense changes to his own nation as well. In *King and Presidents: Saudi Arabia and the United States since FDR*, Bruce Riedel mentions the American ambassador to Saudi Arabia, John West, who described these domestic changes as an experience that would guide the Saudi Kingdom to a rightful place among the global powers of the twentieth century and that indefinitely cemented the U.S.-Saudi friendship (Riedel 58). The most impactful of these changes took place in November 1979 when the Grand Mosque seizure took place in Mecca. Radical Islamic insurgents challenged King Khalid's leadership and called on all Muslims to obey the new *Mahdi* (redeemer of Islam) who they considered to be among their own leadership rather than favoring a member of the Saudi dynasty. The Mecca insurgency was considered one of the most important aspects of Khalid's reign and could be considered a result of the Islamic uprising in Iran, but ultimately the insurgency was mostly due to the issue of corruption in Riyadh under King Khalid. As a result of these charges, Khalid's brother, Crown Prince Fahd, attempted to issue more anticorruption decrees but they failed to work effectively (Stork 27).

As Fahd had been the unofficial Saudi ruler under King Khalid he was therefore able to exercise this much power as Crown Prince. Therefore, after the death of King Khalid in 1982, his brother Fahd ascended to the throne and he ushered in a new era of the special friendship between Washington and Riyadh in the 1980s under Reagan.

The Iran-Contra affair

The Reagan administration's meddling in the Middle East is perhaps best characterized by its involvement in the Iran-Contra affair (1986), in which the United States used the proceeds from their sale of arms to Iran in order to fund the Contra rebels of Nicaragua. However, Reagan also secretly provided weaponry supplies to Iran, which angered the Saudis when they found out about this secret American-Iranian arms deal. For Saudi Arabia, the deal caused a tremendous waning of confidence in the Reagan administration and further damaged their relationship which prevented the United States from achieving their Soviet (and Iranian) containment goals (Rafique 96).

At that time, Iran was at war with neighboring Iraq which is why they needed the arms and Reagan wished to form a new and improved relationship with Iran, as well as simultaneously gain leverage for the freedom of American hostages in Lebanon (Skinner 101). His attempts at an improved relationship with Iran proved futile however, as there was another part of American foreign policy aims in the Middle East that both Iran and Saudi Arabia did not agree with: a final settlement between Palestinians and Israelis. This issue proved to be more important to both Iran and Saudi Arabia and would shape the way in which the United States was to shape its policies towards both states.

The Palestine question and the Soviet threat

Another important part of U.S.-Saudi relations under Reagan was the relationship of both states towards Israel. Despite their lack of support for an Israeli occupation in the West Bank and Gaza and wishes to restrain Israeli influence in the Middle East, the Saudis did aid the United States in their interference with the Egyptian military presence in Israel and vice versa, so as to prevent a full-blown Israeli-Egyptian war which would have destabilized the Middle East and resulted in a loss of power for both Iran and Saudi Arabia (Riedel 87).

However, even after the Egyptian-Israeli conflict had waned as a result of American and Saudi involvement, the Palestinian question remained of great importance to King Fahd and the Saudis expected the United States to increasingly limit, or neutralize, the power of the American lobby for Israel, as well as to contain communism in Afghanistan, without conducting war and therefore destabilize the Middle East (Marshall 12). In return Saudi

Arabia would prove itself to be a loyal ally to Washington. In 1984, when Reagan was reelected, Fahd visited Washington in order to discuss their new strategy. Fahd believed that the
occupation of Palestine was at the root of the issues and turmoil in the Levantine region
(Riedel 90). While Fahd Arabians preferred a just option that would inspire reconciliation
between Israel and Palestine as respectively equal states, their diplomatic efforts did not bear
any fruits because not all Saudi officials agreed to the existence of an Israeli state. It can also
be argued that because Reagan was more involved with communist containment in
Afghanistan, he failed to see the importance of focusing on the existing issues in the Levant
partly because those problems were not necessarily part of what he perceived as the prevailing
'Soviet threat'. Thus the Reagan administration failed to issue a decent peace agreement and
instead focused on other issues in the region.

During the presidency of Reagan's successor, George H. W. Bush, U.S.-Saudi relations underwent more tensions due to the escalation of the situation in Iran, but these were somewhat improved by their eventual cooperation in ending the Gulf War that reestablished Saudi hegemony in the Middle East and weakened the political position of Iran (105). Bush's administration was arguably a continuation of the Reagan presidency and did not alter much to the relationship and greater changes occurred under a new Democratic President: William (Bill) Clinton.

A new age under Clinton

When Bill Clinton became President in 1993, the American economy was faring well and communism had been defeated which caused a shift in political modes of thinking. Clinton tended to describe his administration as an inherently Democratic and a moderate one and preached about a 'new age' that would differ from the Republican ideologies of Reagan and Bush, and therefore not be a continuation of previous policies of containment as this was no longer necessary because the Soviet Union did not exist anymore.

Clinton's 'doctrine of enlargement' inspired an activist role for America in the world and the creation of a free trade network. However, in foreign affairs he had little experience and therefore undertook some significant missteps during his presidency which angered some Saudi officials (Riley). The Clinton administration and its relationship with Riyadh has been characterized by American allegations towards the Saudis of harboring terrorist networks within Saudi Arabia as well as its closer geographical region, and the dismissal of Saudi denials of these allegations (Riedel 114). In Saudi Arabia, Abdallah Abd al Aziz al Saud had ascended to the throne. King Abdallah became Clinton's primary political partner and the two

states wanted to continue to foster a strong 'working relationship' in order to tackle issues surrounding the Israel-Palestine debate and the containment of Iranian hegemony and of Iraq that had gained power under Saddam Hussein (116). But particularly on the issue of a Palestinian state, did they not always agree. King Abdallah was focused only on the Palestinians, as they were seen as Arabs, and tried to make Washington see that the United States had a 'moral obligation' to end the Palestinian suffering. (133). Clinton, instead, attempted to focus on the Middle Eastern region as a whole and was particularly worried by the situation in the Persian Gulf due to increasing tensions between Iran and the Arab states, and the situation in Iraq (Ahrari 210). During the Clinton administration the U.S.-Saudi Arabian relationship was based on a bond rooted in transactions as much it had been in previous decades (Gause 23). Having a transactional bond implies that the friendship was based on both giving and receiving certain favors that would keep both powers in control of their own national interests while fostering a positive relationship as well.

Fears of terrorism

Clinton's new approach to the friendship with Saudi Arabia is a result of the issues that arose in the years prior to his presidency under Reagan and Bush. His new approach was largely due to the collapse of the Soviet Union after which Washington could not simply assume that Riyadh would always be on their side anymore. This strengthens the notions that there has been a continuation of American policies towards Saudi Arabia, but the fact that Clinton had to deal with the results of the insurgencies throughout Saudi Arabia, Iran and Iraq that characterized the 1980s and early 1990s, also proves that there has been a change: Riyadh would not always be on their side anymore and their loyalty to the United States would also largely depend on the manner in which Washington were to approach Iran in the future.

In general, the 1990s under Clinton, and early 2000s under Bush Junior, were characterized by increasing fears of terrorism (the Taliban) and the containment of terrorism. The notion of containment was one that Clinton had previously wanted to abandon, but was unable to do because of new threats of terrorism. Terrorism eventually shaped the way in which American policymakers would respond to issues in the Middle East and it also affected the manner in which they would view Saudi Arabia in the future.

A continuation of containment policies

In the years after the 1979 Islamic revolution some shifts occurred in U.S.-Saudi Arabian relations. As was discussed in chapter one, prior to the revolution, U.S. policies in Saudi Arabia had been mostly rooted in the continuance of the oil trade and the provision of security

for the Saudis. After the revolution in Iran, religious fanaticism swept through the Middle East which caused insurgences to pop up everywhere. For Saudi Arabia it was important that such uprisings would be supressed quickly because otherwise it would have threatened the power of the Saudi royal family. In Washington, Carter worried about the protection of the Persian Gulf and the containment of communism. In these years, containing potential Iranian hegemony was most important to both Washington and Riyadh. Under Reagan, attentions shifted to Afghanistan and relations with Saudi Arabia deteriorated due to a lack of interest in some of the issues that Saudi Arabia wanted the United States to look into, such as the Arab-Israeli conflict. These issues continued to agitate both Saudi Arabia and Iran throughout both of the Reagan and Bush administrations and only changed when Clinton became President. Clinton took a new approach to the Saudis but whose policies of improving the relationship were tainted by new containment goals of preventing terrorism.

Chapter 3: U.S-Saudi relations under Trump and the future of a special friendship

In the final chapter, we will examine the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia as it exists under the current Trump administration. Leading up to the Trump era, it is necessary to mention and assess the impact of some of the most crucial events that preceded his presidency, such as the 9/11 attacks during the Bush Junior administration and the capture of Osama bin Laden.

Bush: 9/11 and the war on terror

George W. Bush arguably had to face one of the most important and horrifying events in recent American history during his presidency. In the morning of 11 September 2001, the Islamic terrorist group al Qaeda (the Base) carried out four terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center in New York City and on the Pentagon in Arlington, Virginia. In the months leading up to the 9/11 attacks, tensions between Washington and Riyadh had continued to rise and they reached their near boiling point in August of 2001 when Crown Prince Abdallah sent a furious letter to Washington which, according to the Jordanian ambassador in Washington, said that "it had become clear to Saudi Arabia that the U.S. administration was working against Arab interests....[Abdallah] wrote that Saudi Arabia would reciprocate by pursuing its own interests without consideration for American interests" (Riedel 134). A month later, a largely Saudi-led terrorist attack occurred on American soil. While Riyadh was shocked and expressed their disapproval of 9/11, they simultaneously failed to put in their own effort to mend the old friendship with the United States (Subhan 3886). In addition, because fifteen of the nineteen terrorists who committed the act were Saudis, many Americans found it easy to believe that Saudi Arabia had influenced the attack (Riedel 205). According to a report that was issued in 2002, it became clear that at least three of the Saudi individuals that were involved, may have possibly been connected to the Saudi government in Riyadh. Further FBI research has claimed that two of these people were, in fact, intelligence officers (206). Therefore, the increasing tolerance that the United States had been trying to rebuild throughout the years prior to 9/11 under Clinton was starting to crack once more. Their alliance that had lasted for more than half a century was growing apart and distrust tainted their future diplomatic encounters (Zuhur 7).

The war on terror

It is interesting to note that during the Clinton years, Saudi Arabia and the United States cooperated on a variety of matters, among which was the containment of terrorism: meaning Washington's goal to reduce terrorist activities in the world (Riedel 129). With this, as well as Bush senior's policies towards the Middle East (e.g. their cooperation during the Gulf War) in mind, the Saudis expected George W. Bush to be similar to them. However, Bush showed little interest in promoting, for example, peace talks about the Arab-Israeli conflict which he believed was of little importance to the stability of the Middle East, even jesting about the idea that the Saudis thought he would be stupid enough to go against Israel, in a meeting with Israeli president Moshe Katsav, saying that: "The Saudis thought this Texas oil guy was going to go against Israel, and I've told them you have the wrong guy" (131). However, the Bush administration did wish to establish a decent relationship with the Saudis based on the strategic nature of their friendship as it had existed since the 1970s which was rooted in the continuance of the oil trade and the provision of security for the Saudis, which ultimately meant preventing Iran from becoming too powerful. Regardless, inexperience and a lack of knowledge about the Middle East on Bush's part made the latter policy goal of providing security a difficult one to achieve (Subhan 3885).

What ensued after 9/11 and the war in Iraq, because the Bush administration was convinced that Saddam Hussein, rather than the Saudis, harbored terrorists and WMDs within its nation's borders, was a war on terror that would shape American foreign policy in the Middle East throughout Bush's presidency as well as the succeeding Obama administration, and determine the way in which the United States and Saudi Arabia would continue their political bond.

Barack Obama and King Abdallah

When Barack Obama became President in 2008, he inherited a nation that was economically downtrodden. The war in Iraq was over but terrorism had not been defeated as al Qaeda was still considered an enemy and concerns about the resurgence of the Taliban in Afghanistan arose again (Riedel 152). As such, Obama saw great importance in the reestablishment of the American political relationship with Saudi Arabia and the Muslim world in general.

While traveling to Cairo in Egypt to make a speech, Obama made a stop in Riyadh to meet the Saudi King Abdallah. This indicates that Obama was eager to improve ties to Saudi Arabia but unfortunately the meeting did not go as well as he had anticipated. Apart from significant amounts of miscommunication on both sides, Obama and King Abdallah could not agree on all issues. The United States had started to gain less oil from Saudi Arabia as they

had been increasingly able to produce it themselves or get it from elsewhere (Blackwill). Security issues surrounding the power of Iran still threatened the central power in Riyadh, but Obama appeared to put less emphasis on the long-lasting enmity with Iran and therefore the containment of Iran almost faded into the background. They did agree on the issues surrounding terrorism and both expressed a wish to prevent potential terrorist attacks in the future. Contrary to Bush however, Obama opposed the use of force and wanted to prevent war.

Nuclear arms in Iran and the capture of bin Laden

While al Qaeda was rising secretly, Obama was more concerned about nuclear arms in Iran and the increasing hegemony that Iran was starting to regain over the region (Riedel 155). Regardless of the close relationship the two nations had tried to form for years, Washington still distrusted Tehran and vice versa, and Washington still wanted to provide security in the Middle East by protecting the Saudi royal family as its major power. According to Marcin Zaborowski, Iran and the United States would have almost become allies in the war on terror due to their common interest in Afghanistan (67). However, Tehran was critical of the presence of American forces in the Middle East and their support for Riyadh. While their words aimed at Washington did not always reflect reality, as they were helpful in, for example, America's Operation Enduring Freedom, their critical rhetoric did impact U.S.-Iranian relations significantly, especially the discovery of the Iranian nuclear program in 2002 under Bush which further increased tensions (67).

One of the United States' main goals in the Middle East in general has been to counter the rise of terrorist activities. Washington needs help from the Saudi Arabians to do so and the fact that Riyadh's own national interests include the issue of counterterrorism as well, despite having been accused of harboring and funding (potential) terrorists, was incredibly useful. At the time of his capture Osama bin Laden was considered the symbolic leader and the individual ultimately responsible for the 9/11 attacks. By capturing and killing him during Operation Neptune Spear (the bin Laden raid) on 2 May 2011, Barack Obama both reinforced the notion of American exceptionalism as well as allegedly won the global war on terror which ended goals of countering terrorism and promised more security from outside and inside threats to Saudi Arabia in the Middle East (Hasian Jr 1803). However, according to Richard Jackson it can be suggested that the notion that counterterrorism is dead, in fact, untrue and that it seems more likely that counterterrorism will become more important in the future for the safekeeping of both American and Saudi interests. He also argues that as long as

Iran is the 'other' major power, that terrorism will remain crucial to Washington's Saudi policies, as Saudi Arabia would regard any attempt at power-grabbing by Iran as an act funded and supported by terrorist groups.

Back to a Republican view: Trump on the Middle East

With Donald Trump in the white house, the Saudis may have begun to feel that the United States is on their side once more as Trump has often denounced Iran as an evil nation and views the Saudis as good friends to Washington. American policies towards Saudi Arabia under Trump are still characterized by the continuance of the oil trade and the containment of Iranian hegemony in the Middle East. In addition, Trump's tendency to stay away from sensitive issues such as religion, gender equality and freedom of the press, has also been one of the main reasons for the improved relationship between Washington and Riyadh in recent years. Therefore, it seems as if Trump's new approach to Saudi Arabia is bearing fruits but this may also only be visible on the surface. Meetings between Trump and Saudi officials often lack substance and largely ignore the issues that Obama had been trying to mend, which is also something that Trump is actively trying to remove from the narrative with Saudi Arabia (Riedel 178-179). It is sometimes argued that most of his domestic and foreign policies are rooted in distorting Obama's policies. Therefore, while the U.S.-Saudi relationship appears to gain more stability, it is, in fact, only stable on paper and not in practice. Riedel even argues that "the Saudis play Trump like a fiddle" and that the first meeting between Donald Trump and Deputy Crown Prince Muhammad bin Salman was more symbolic than anything else. The Saudis seem happy to work with what they consider to be an unqualified individual in their long-lasting campaign to undermine Iran, and Trump is most likely content to be allowed to show his opponents that he has been able to 'fix' the relationship with Riyadh whereas Obama could not (Shavit and Guzansky 1). Yet, according to F. Gregory Gause it would be wrong to assume that Trump's policies in the Middle East are substantially different from that of the Obama administration, implying that there is another continuation of policies towards Saudi Arabia at play. Trump and Obama are the same on many issues, such as counterterrorism, which underscores Richard Jackson's prediction in 2015, and both are reluctant to get involved in large-scale military operations. However, they differ on the issues surrounding Iran, Israel and Palestine.

Trump on Iran

Iran remains a sensitive issue for both Washington and Riyadh and even though Iran has regularly expressed a wish to improve the strained atmosphere between themselves and other

countries, such attempts at peace have so far been unsuccessful (Guzansky and Shine 2). Yoel Guzansky and Sima Shine have further argued that even if such a peace agreement between Iran, the United States and Saudi Arabia would occur, it would not be genuine due to immense clashes of national interests and the fact that the underlying causes for the hostility between Saudi Arabia and Iran are still relevant today. Trump views Iran as a major threat to the United States and even cut them off from the JCPOA (Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action) in 2017. Obama, on the other hand, tried to engage Iran into discussing peace agreements and may have hoped that his administration's policies would have eventually led to a moderation surge in the Islamic Republic of Iran (Gause 274).

As was mentioned earlier, since the U.S.-Saudi alliance is not merely rooted in the oil trade anymore ever since the United States has significantly reduced its dependence on Saudi oil in recent years (Blackwill, 2019), the bond has become a source of cooperation on a variety of issues, among which the Iranian nuclear threat. In order to make sure that Iran's attempts at establishing hegemony will not go unchecked, the United States needs support from Saudi Arabia in order to contain Iranian hegemony. According to Robert D. Blackwill, the relationship has become one rooted in discussing and solving security issues that threaten Saudi hegemony in the Middle East. Blackwill also suggests that the need for a friendship is mutual, arguing that if the United States were to abandon Saudi Arabia as an ally, China and Russia will take up its place. This would profoundly impact the role of Saudi Arabia in the Middle East and alter its strong position among the global powers. Such a shift will also enable Iran to gain more influence over the Middle East. Therefore, both Trump and Salman understand how crucial it is to maintain their 'special friendship' in the future.

The future of the U.S.-Saudi relationship and its effects on the Middle East

Despite Trump's support for the King's heir, Muhammad bin Salman, and the Kingdom itself, events such as the murder on journalist Jamal Khashoggi and the selling of arms to Saudi Arabia, who are likely using these to continue the occupation of war-torn Yemen even further, have decreased the former 'popularity' of the Saudi Arabian state. As much as Trump has tried to depict Saudi Arabia as a moderate Islamic nation that wants to fight terrorism as much as Washington, their involvement in the aforementioned issues have sparked heated debates about whether the United States should continue its 'special friendship' with Riyadh. Joseph A. Kéchichian has accused Salman of being a dangerous man who according to former CIA analysts abuses his position to punish critics and enemies and warns the Trump administration to be wary of his policies (181). Kéchichian takes this even further by apparently suggesting

that Riyadh's positive treatment of Trump has ultimately influenced Trump's negative stance towards Iran (181) as he has regularly deemed Iran to be 'a bad actor' that should be contained (AP Archive). Trump himself has said that he simply has no wish to break with Saudi Arabia for fear of lowered oil prices. In a series of press interview he has claimed that it would be 'foolish' to break with Riyadh and that if the United States were to do so it would destroy the domestic economy and give more power to Russia and China, and because Trump's most important policy is 'America First' he therefore refuses to end the relationship with Muhammad bin Salman and the Kingdom.

In 2018, a meeting between Trump and Muhammad bin Salman took place in which they both supported the idea of a lasting relationship and sharing financial gains. During the meeting, Salman deemed the historical connection between the two states as being too important for the global world order for their friendship to end. Trump, on the other hand, continues to blame the Obama administration for these issues and vouches to improve the relationship under his leadership. (PBS Newshour). Their meeting could underscore the notion that despite having some similar interests, Riyadh and Washington still differ on the causes for their past problems. Trump blames Obama, while Salman effectively sweeps their issues under the rug. Yet, Saudi Arabia also wishes to make significant regional developments and in order to do that they need support from Washington as Iran still needs to be contained in their eyes. Salman has claimed that it is in the best interest of the Middle East that they will be at the forefront of the world in the future, which could ultimately undermine Trump's policy of 'America First'. During an interview on Al Arabiya English he has said that "I think that the new Europe will be the Middle East" and calls this a Middle Eastern renaissance that will change the world. Salman also swears that this is his 'war' and that he will not die before he sees the Middle East at the forefront of the world (Al Arabiya English). These passionate words, which Eman Alhussein calls 'hyper-nationalism', words were directed at the Middle East as a whole, but it could also be said that such developments are mostly in their own interests of supporting Arab nationalism. Salman omits mentioning any country that is not a part of what could be considered to be a part of the 'Arab' sphere of influence, despite being a part of the Middle East. He ignores the plights of people that want to become autonomous states, such as the Palestinians and the Kurds, as well as omits the entire country of Israel. It also interesting that Salman has not mentioned Iran either in his televized speech. Because Iran is often considered to be the 'other' major power in the Middle East, this suggests that Saudi Arabia still wishes to remain at the top of that hierarchy as well as to form a national

narrative and continue to keep Saudi Arabia together as a state and reduce Iran's influence (Alhussein 3).

Returning to pre-1979 policies

Under Bush, the attacks of 9/11 would ultimately shape the way in which Washington would continue to communicate with the Saudis. Due to the involvement of Saudi individuals in the attack, the political bond's popularity waned among the American public and as distrust started to affect their diplomatic encounters, terrorism was on the rise. The war on terror would be the focus of American foreign policy in the Middle East in later years, as well as the prevention of Iranian hegemony. While Obama tried to make amends with both Saudi Arabia and Iran alike, Trump has decided to stray from that path and deems Iran an evil nation in possession of nuclear arms that needs to be contained in order to protect the existing Saudi hegemony. Nevertheless, it has also become clear that Saudi Arabia has national interests that differ from those communicated with Washington. Trump's Saudi policies involve their protection from Iran, as it had been in earlier administrations. Yet, he often tends to focus on the financial aspects of their relationship which goes back to the years before the 1979 revolution in Iran when the U.S.-Saudi friendship was predominantly rooted in the protection of the oil trade, rather than making Saudi security issues a top priority as it has seemed to be in later years.

Conclusion

The main question this thesis set out to answer is how the relationship between the United States and Saudi Arabia was changed by the Islamic revolution that took place in Iran in 1979.

In the first chapter we have looked at the history of U.S.-Saudi relations and how their friendship has become 'special'. While the relationship was primarily rooted in oil, just like the American relationship with Iran was, it achieved its special nature because of their respective goals of security, and arguably, a shared notion of 'exceptionalism'. For the United States, this means being unique and serving as an example for other nations. In Saudi Arabia, exceptionalism implies the exceptionalism of the Saudi family combined with notions of Arab nationalism that are being used to justify their actions towards other states in the Middle East. Chapter one also discussed the effects that the Iranian revolution has had on the Middle East, One of the aspects of the revolution being a complete rejection of western values, which significantly worsened the Iranian relationship with the United States. It is interesting to observe that before the Islamic revolution took place, the United States had a relatively stable relationship with Iran. Due the rise of religious activity and the abandonment of secular politics by Ayatollah Khomeini, handling diplomacy between the two nations became increasingly difficult, especially during and after the Iranian Hostage Crisis. In Saudi Arabia, there was an increase in more extreme Islamic modes of thinking as well, but the royal family in Riyadh was largely able to supress any insurgency linked to them. Their relationship with the Saudis was also worsened due to the hegemony that Iran tried to impose on its neighboring countries which endangered regional Saudi influence. This changed the way in which Washington would have to approach Saudi Arabia and its regional endeavors in the future.

The second chapter has looked at the aftermath of the revolution. During the presidency of Jimmy Carter the American relationship with the Saudis changed significantly: firstly, due to Carter's own approach to the Saudi state, and secondly, due to the Islamic revolution in Iran. As a result, the U.S.-Saudi relationship became both more intense and distant. While they shared the same opinions on Soviet influence in the Middle East, meaning that both believed that the Soviet Union had no right to be in or near the Persian Gulf region, they differed on the issue of Israel and Palestine. In the future, the Arab-Israeli conflict would prove to cause many more issues for the friendship between Washington and Riyadh, yet it never occurred that they fell out of favor with each other completely. While the Islamic revolution was an important factor in the changing relationship as it changed the situation in

the Middle East and affected long-term bonds between nations, it can be argued that it was further damaged by the Arab-Israeli conflict in which the United States believed it was important to conduct a balanced settlement between Palestinians and Israelis.

The final chapter examines the Bush junior, Obama and Trump administrations and takes a look at the potential future for U.S.-Saudi relations. The attacks of 9/11 shaped the way the United States would deal with the Middle East for decades to come and because fifteen terrorists involved in the attack were Saudi Arabian, an increase in distrust started to emerge between Washington and Riyadh. Before 9/11, building a renewed tolerance shaped the way in which Clinton viewed diplomatic ties with Saudi Arabia, but the attacks destroyed these goals and the Saudis, in turn, became increasingly dissatisfied with Washington's behavior as well. Obama tried to make amends, but he failed to win Israel because of his refusal to visit Jerusalem and instead travel to Riyadh. In general, Obama was mostly concerned about Iranian hegemony, as is similar to policies towards Saudi Arabia by previous Presidents, and Tehran's potential obtainment of nuclear arms which made counterterrorism a top priority. Under Donald Trump, most of these issues were discarded as he believed that Obama had failed at improving the relationship, but he did want to contain Iran.

As a response to the main research question of this thesis, it could be argued that the Islamic revolution has indeed sparked a change in diplomatic relations between Washington and Riyadh, but that it was not the only cause for these changes as their policies of continuing the oil trade and providing security for the Saudis, as well as containing Iranian hegemony in the Middle East, were also influenced by the Arab-Israeli conflict as well as the long-lasting Saudi-Iranian enmity itself. Currently, President Donald Trump believes that he is the right person to mend the special friendship and has met up with Saudi officials more than once to prove this. This also shows how he uses traditional notions of American exceptionalism, in which the United States have a unique mission to bring freedom and democracy to other nations, which may be why they choose to remain on friendly terms with the Saudis, so Washington might be able to democratize the Middle East by supporting Saudi hegemony.

In order to achieve this, it can be argued that Trump has also discarded any attempt at friendly relations with 'evil' Iran for the sake of his friendship with Saudi Arabia. Yet, it could be possible that due to his focus on the economic ties between Washington and Riyadh, Trump ultimately fails to see the true national interests of Saudi Arabia. As Crown Prince Muhammad bin Salman has clarified, it is Riyadh's wish to see the Middle East at the forefront of the world as a new Europe. Could this imply that Saudi Arabia could be likened to 'a new America' as well? Scholars are still unsure about how to define Saudi or Arab

nationalism and exceptionalism, as they believe it is still in the process of formation and that it has therefore not been established yet how Saudi Arabia would like to see itself as within the Middle East, as well as in the world. What is clear is that Iran is considered to be the 'other' major power that needs to be eradicated with American support which could imply that in the eyes of the Saudis they are not a part of this notion of Arab nationalism in the Middle East. Therefore, whether Arab nationalism and exceptionalism are real or constructed ideals to continue certain politics, calls for further research on the issue of enmity between Iran and Saudi Arabia, and perhaps also on the disparity that exists between how Saudi Arabia views itself and how they view the (Arab) Middle East as, arguably, an extension of themselves.

In conclusion, the U.S.-Saudi relationship is still developing and has undergone a lot of damage. It can be argued that most of these issues stem from the Islamic revolution which increased extremist Islamic thinking in the Middle East. Therefore, it became more difficult for the United States to gain approval on the majority of debatable issues, such as the situation in Israel and Palestine and the nuclear arms conflict surrounding the current politics of Iran. Further research might look into how Iran has, and is still trying to gain more influence over the Persian Gulf and might therefore be challenging Riyadh to share its power in the region. What America's role in this might be, also remains to be debated as this depends on what 'side' they will pick in the future. For now, this seems to be Saudi Arabia but it might very well be possible that a future President will opt for reconciliation with Iran. What this would mean for the Middle East, if Washington chooses to drop Saudi Arabia, is interesting to look into. For now, however, the United States and Saudi Arabia are forming a united front to counter Iranian hegemony in the Middle East. Likely, this will make mending the American-Iranian relationship difficult as Washington and Tehran have been on opposing sides of one another ever since the revolution and probably will remain so for some time to come.

Bibliography

Works cited

- Ahrari, M. Ehsan. "Saudi Arabia: A Simmering Cauldron of Instability?" *The Brown Journal of World Affairs*, vol. 6, no. 2, 1999, pp. 209–222. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/24590380.
- Alhussein, Eman. *Saudi First: How Hyper-Nationalism is Transforming Saudi Arabia*. European Council on Foreign Relations, 2019, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep21640.
- "America and the Iranian Revolution, 1977–1979." *The Eagle and the Lion: The Tragedy of American-Iranian Relations*, by James A. Bill, Yale University Press, 1988, pp. 216–260. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt32bmgp.12.
- Al-Rasheed, Madawi. "Review Article: Saudi Arabia Post 9/11: History, Religion and Security." *Middle Eastern Studies*, vol. 43, no. 1, 2007, pp. 153–160. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/4284530.
- Al-Sudairi, Mohammed Turki. "Saudi Arabia and the US Alliance: No Place for an Asian Alternative?" *Security Dynamics of East Asia in the Gulf Region*, edited by Tim Niblock and Yang Guang, Gerlach Press, Berlin, Germany, 2014, pp. 69–92. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1df4hcx.6.
- Bentjamin, Medea. *Kingdom of the Unjust: Behind the U.S.-Saudi Connection*. OR Books, 2016. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv62hg2h.
- Binder, Leonard. "Exceptionalism and Authenticity: The Question of Islam and Democracy." *The Arab Studies Journal*, vol. 6, no. 1, 1998, pp. 33–59. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/41969119.
- Blackwill, Robert D. *Saudi Arabia*. Council on Foreign Relations, 2019, pp. 44–46, *Trump's Foreign Policies Are Better Than They Seem*, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep21419.13.
- Bowen, Wayne. The History of Saudi Arabia. 2nd ed., ABC-CLIO, 2015.
- Buchan, James. "The Iranian Revolution of 1979." *Asian Affairs*, vol. 44, no. 3, 2013, pp. 418–26. *Crossref*, doi:10.1080/03068374.2013.826016.
- Conge, Patrick, and Gwenn Okruhlik. "The Power of Narrative: Saudi Arabia, the United States and the Search for Security." *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, vol. 36, no. 3, 2009, pp. 359–374. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/40593280.
- De Tocqueville, Alexis. *Democracy in America*. Alfred A. Knopf, 1840.
- Elwell-Sutton, L. P. "The Iranian Revolution." *International Journal*, vol. 34, no. 3, 1979, pp. 391–407. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/40201789.
- Gasiorowski, Mark J. "Security Relations between the United States and Iran, 1953–1978." *Neither East nor West: Iran, the Soviet Union, and the United States*, edited by Nikki

- R. Keddie and Mark J. Gasiorowski, Yale University Press, New Haven; London, 1990, pp. 145–165. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt2250vwz.11.
- Gause, F. Gregory. *Saudi-U.S. Relations*. Council on Foreign Relations, 2011, pp. 22–31, *Saudi Arabia in the New Middle East*, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep05774.9.
- Gause, F. Gregory. "Donald Trump and the Middle East." *Chaos in the Liberal Order: The Trump Presidency and International Politics in the Twenty-First Century*, edited by Robert Jervis et al., Columbia University Press, New York; Chichester, West Sussex, 2018, pp. 273–286. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/10.7312/jerv18834.24.
- Gran, Peter. "Contending with Middle East Exceptionalism: A Foreword." *The Arab Studies Journal*, vol. 6, no. 1, 1998, pp. 6–9. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/41969117.
- Guzansky, Yoel, and Sima Shine. *Turnaround in Saudi-Iranian Relations?* Institute for National Security Studies, 2017, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep08881.
- Hamid, Shadi, and Sharan Grewal. "What Iran's 1979 Revolution Meant for the Muslim Brotherhood." *Brookings*, 24 Jan. 2019, www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2019/01/24/what-irans-1979-revolution-meant-for-the-muslim-brotherhood.
- Hasian Jr, Marouf. "American Exceptionalism and the Bin Laden Raid." *Third World Quarterly*, vol. 33, no. 10, 2012, pp. 1803–1820., www.jstor.org/stable/41698821.
- "Israel and Obama Clash." *A Single Roll of the Dice: Obama's Diplomacy with Iran*, by Trita Parsi, Yale University Press, New Haven; London, 2012, pp. 69–78. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1npnj0.9.
- Jackson, Richard. "Bin Laden's Ghost and the Epistemological Crises of Counterterrorism." *Covering Bin Laden: Global Media and the World's Most Wanted Man*, edited by Susan Jeffords and Fahed Al-Sumait, University of Illinois Press, 2015, pp. 3–19. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/j.ctt6wr60n.4.
- Katz, Mark N. The Iran Primer. Edited by Robin B. Wright, United States Institute of Peace, 2010.
- Kéchichian, Joseph A. *The Consequences of the Khashoggi Affair*. Asan Institute for Policy Studies, 2019, pp. 173–202, *Saudi Arabia in 2030: The Emergence of a New Leadership*, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep20689.11.
- McCoy, Terrence. "How Joseph Stalin Invented 'American Exceptionalism." *The Atlantic*, 15 Mar. 2012, www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2012/03/how-joseph-stalin-invented-american-exceptionalism/254534.
- Miller, Andrew, and Sahar Nowrouzzadeh. "Saudi Arabia's Empty Oil Threats: Riyadh Won't Sabotage Trump's Iran Policy." *Foreign Affairs*, 1 Nov. 2018, www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/saudi-arabia/2018-11-01/saudi-arabias-empty-oil-threats.

- Pace, Eric. "Carter and Saudis Meet on Mideast and Oil Problem." *Https://Www.Nytimes.Com/#publisher*, 4 Jan. 1978, www.nytimes.com/1978/01/04/archives/carter-and-saudis-meet-on-mideast-and-oil-problems-riyadh-talks.html.
- Pease, Donald E. "American Exceptionalism." *Oxford Bibliographies Online Datasets*, 2018. *Crossref*, doi:10.1093/obo/9780199827251-0176.
- Pipes, Daniel. "The Scandal of U.S.-Saudi Relations." *The National Interest*, no. 70, 2002, pp. 66–78. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/42897443.
- Prifti, Bledar. *US Foreign Policy in the Middle East: The Case for Continuity*. 1st ed. 2017, Palgrave Macmillan, 2017.
- Rafique, Najam. "The Changing Nature of US-Saudi Relations." *Strategic Studies*, vol. 24, no. 1, 2004, pp. 17–38. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/45242494.
- Riedel, Bruce. *Kings and Presidents: Saudi Arabia and the United States since FDR*. Brookings Institution Press, 2019. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/10.7864/j.ctv8xnj9m.
- Riley, Russell. "Bill Clinton: Foreign Affairs." *Miller Center*, 4 Oct. 2016, millercenter.org/president/clinton/foreign-affairs.
- Shavit, Eldad, and Ari Heistein. "Why Saudi Arabia's Crisis Is a Sign That U.S. Foreign Policy Is Shifting." *The National Interest*, 4 Oct. 2019, nationalinterest.org/blog/middle-east-watch/why-saudi-arabias-crisis-sign-us-foreign-policy-shifting-85606.
- Shavit, Eldad, and Yoel Guzansky. *President Trump in Riyadh: A New Start for US-Saudi Relations?* Institute for National Security Studies, 2017, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep08639.
- Skinner, Kiron K. "The Beginning of a New U.S. Grand Strategy: Policy on Terror during the Reagan Era." *Reagan's Legacy in a World Transformed*, edited by Jeffrey L. Chidester and Paul Kengor, by Brian Mulroney, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts; London, England, 2015, pp. 101–123. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1c84f6x.10.
- Stork, Joe. "Saudi Arabia and the US." *MERIP Reports*, no. 91, 1980, pp. 24–30. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/3010947.
- Subhan, Taufiq. "US-Saudi Arabia Relations: Coming of Age." *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 38, no. 37, 2003, pp. 3885–3887. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/4414018.
- "The Iranian Revolution." *The Modern Middle East, Third Edition: A Political History since the First World War*, by Mehran Kamrava, 3rd ed., University of California Press, 2013, pp. 139–169. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt46n4mx.16.
- "The Mystic Who Lit The Fires of Hatred.". Time. 7 January 1980.

- "The Question of Arab Exceptionalism." *The Rise and Fall of Arab Presidents for Life: With a New Afterword*, by Roger Owen, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts; London, England, 2014, pp. 153–171. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qdsmz.14.
- Yergin, Daniel. The Prize: The Epic Quest for Oil, Money & Power. Reissue, Free Press, 2008.
- Zaborowski, Marcin. *Bush's Legacy and America's next Foreign Policy*. European Union Institute for Security Studies (EUISS), 2008, www.jstor.org/stable/resrep06937.
- Zuhur, Sherifa. *Saudi Arabia: Islamic Threat, Political Reform, and the Global War on Terror.*Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 2005,
 www.jstor.org/stable/resrep11676.

Clips

- Al Arabiya English. "Saudi Crown Prince: The New Europe Is the Middle East, Even Qatar." *YouTube*, uploaded by Al Arabiya English, 24 Oct. 2018, www.youtube.com/watch?v=0sE9xCDfuuU&list=PLqOQjD3cZE1c1cQ0AzDMhcFw2UjiTFFHx&index=5.
- AP Archive. "Trump: Saudi Arabia Decision about 'America First." *YouTube*, uploaded by AP Archive, 25 Nov. 2018, www.youtube.com/watch?v=yCZ6w8eDcY4&list=PLqOQjD3cZE1c1cQ0AzDMhcFw2 UjjTFFHx&index=7&t=0s.
- PBS NewsHour. "President Trump Holds Meeting with Saudi Arabian Crown Prince." *YouTube*, uploaded by PBS NewsHour, 20 Mar. 2018, www.youtube.com/watch?v=yhw37reiFj0&list=PLqOQjD3cZE1c1cQ0AzDMhcFw2Ujj TFFHx&index=7.

Other

Algar, Hamid. "ĀYATALLĀH – Encyclopaedia Iranica." *Encyclopaedia Iranica*, 18 Aug. 2011, www.iranicaonline.org/articles/ayatallah.

Cover

Garsys, Linas. "Illustration on an American/Saudi Arabian Alliance against Iranian Hegemony." *The Washington Times*, The Washington Times, 15 Mar. 2017,

www.washingtontimes.com/multimedia/image/3_152017_b1haykellgussaudi8201jpg/.